

# PROCEEDINGS

OF THE

**Cambridge Antiquarian Society,**

22 OCT. 1906—27 MAY 1907.

WITH

**Communications**

MADE TO THE SOCIETY.

No. XLVIII.

BEING No. 1 OF THE TWELFTH VOLUME.

(SIXTH VOLUME OF THE NEW SERIES.)



**Cambridge:**

DEIGHTON, BELL & CO.; BOWES & BOWES.

LONDON: G. BELL AND SONS.

1908

*Price Five Shillings net.*

PROCEEDINGS  
OF THE  
**Cambridge Antiquarian Society;**  
WITH  
COMMUNICATIONS MADE TO THE SOCIETY.

---

22 October, 1906—27 May, 1907.

---

Monday, 22 October, 1906.

The Reverend WILLIAM GEORGE SEARLE, M.A., President,  
in the Chair.

The Report for the year 1905—6 was presented to the  
Society and passed.

SIXTY-SIXTH ANNUAL REPORT.

DURING the year now past the Society has lost by death seven members. Amongst these was Cecil Bendall, Professor of Sanskrit, whose untimely decease was a specially heavy loss. Elected a member in 1879, he shortly afterwards induced the Society to add excursions to its programme, and was himself the first Excursion Secretary. On his return to Cambridge after an absence of some years he was re-elected to the Council and remained a member till the time of his death.

His enthusiasm for the Society was intense, and he has left a gap it will be hard to fill.

We have also lost Mr Robert Pearson Brereton of Oundle, Mr Thomas Coote of Fenstanton, Sir Richard Claverhouse Jebb, M.P. for the University, Thomas Lucas, Esq., of Cambridge, Dr Perowne, Master of Corpus Christi College, and Canon Raven of Fressingfield. Of the loss to the archæological world and to Cambridge caused by the death of Sir Richard Jebb it is not necessary to speak here. Mr Brereton was a keen student of ecclesiastical architecture, and his premature death has put a stop to excellent work in that subject from his pen.

Dr Perowne was one of the senior members of the Society, which he joined in 1867. Mr Coote, who became a member in 1879, took an active part in the work at that time, which his health did not permit in later years. The death of Canon Raven on the 20th Sept. has deprived our Roll of a distinguished Antiquary. Elected a member in 1880, the 2nd edition of his book on *The Bells of Cambridgeshire* was issued by the Society in 1881 and a Supplement to it in 1882. These have long been out of print. While he made campanology his special subject, he did not confine himself entirely to it, and gifts by him of local coins are mentioned and a note on a Gnostic gem appears in the *Proceedings*.

The Society is indebted to many friends for their efforts to increase its membership, and especially during the past year to Mr Herbert George Fordham of Odsey. Thirty-eight candidates have been elected, four members have resigned or have ceased their membership, and the total number is thus 301, as compared with 274 last year. As the resources of the Society are smaller than its needs and can be enlarged in the ordinary course of things only by an increase in the membership, it is hoped that those who are already members will interest themselves in getting their friends to join its ranks. There has been no change in the list of honorary members.

Though during the past session the number of meetings increased to 24, the attendances at most of these were satisfactory, and at some very large, shewing that the interest of members did not flag.

A list of the papers read at the meetings is printed in the first Appendix.

The catholic traditions of the Society were well maintained in the variety of the subjects dealt with. Important as ecclesiology undoubtedly is, it has always been regarded in Cambridge as only a department—though a very notable department—of antiquarian study, and the Society has welcomed every kind of contribution to the history of man and his doings. At the suggestion of the President, Dr Griffiths and Mr Rhodes lectured on *Primitive Surgery* and *Ancient and Barbaric Dentistry* respectively, and other general papers were Professor Ridgeway's on *The Origin of Basilicas* and Mr Phillips' on *Mediæval Floor Tiles*. The customs and antiquities of individual countries were discussed in many papers. Dr Haddon lectured on the native races of South Africa and on the Dances of the natives of the Torres Straits, giving cinematographic illustrations, to which Dr Myers contributed phonographic records of the native music; Mr Cunnington described the natives of some districts bordering on Lake Tanganyika, and Dr Gadow contributed a paper on the origin of the early Aztec civilization, based on his own researches in Mexico. Professor Flinders Petrie and Mr Macalister gave accounts of their recent work—one in Sinai, the other in Palestine. Dr Guillemard described the antiquities of the Balearic Islands with their *Nurhags* and other interesting early structures. The Provost of King's traced back the tapestries now in the Cathedral and Archbishop's Palace at Aix in Provence to a time when they belonged to Canterbury Cathedral. The Registry contributed two more chapters to the history of libraries in his papers on the Library Buildings at La Chaise Dieu and St Mark's, Venice, the latter having a special interest in connection with recent proposed alterations in the University Library. Mr Bilson came from Hull to describe the antiquities in and near Beauvais and Compiègne, which had just been visited by the French Archæological Congress, and M. Martin Sabon of Paris kindly lent his photographic slides to illustrate the lecture. Mr Magnússon traced the history of the Scandinavian *dyngja*, and Sir Robert Ball exhibited a new set of photographs

of the Irish coast and its antiquities, taken during his cruise with the Commissioners of Irish Lights. The discovery of a number of 16th century playing cards at Trinity College was the occasion of a lecture by Mr W. Morley Fletcher, who propounded a new theory as to the origin of the traditional designs of English cards. Mr Davenport discussed the development of English bookbinding from the standpoint of a lifelong student of the subject. Dr Guillemard dealt with the obscure history of English roundels, and Mr Cowles shewed a large collection of old chapbooks which now, owing to the fact that they were once so cheap and common, are often difficult to procure. Nor were local antiquities neglected. Miss Layard came from Ipswich to give an account of her researches in a district which has yielded a rich harvest of early stone implements, while excavations still nearer home were described by Professor Hughes and Messrs Fryer and Keynes. The Rev. A. J. Edmonds contributed a paper on his own parish of Great Gransden; Mr W. H. St John Hope discussed the origin of Cambridge Castle, Mr Fordham exhibited a number of old maps of Cambridgeshire and the Fen Country and Dr Allen described the progress of the photographic record of the county, displaying many of the photographs already acquired. Local history and biography were dealt with in the Registrar's account of the attack of the Stage Keepers of Trinity College on members of St John's College in 1611, and in Mr A. B. Gray's notes on the two John Bowtells, senior and junior. Among the exhibits shewn from time to time in which China and Japan, not to speak of European countries, were represented, local antiquities were again prominent, *e.g.* the proctors' halberds and dagger, whose forgotten history was explained by Dr Duckworth; the ginger-bread moulds, once used in Cambridgeshire fairs and feasts, and now in the possession of Mr Redfern; the Cambridge standard quart measure of the 16th century shewn by the Town Clerk, and Mr Catling's collections from old Cambridge inns.

On two occasions the recent additions to the Museum were shewn and commented on by the Curator. The early British clay vessels which belonged to the late Mr Nunn, of Royston,

are of special interest, but many other valuable objects have been acquired either by gift or by purchase with funds provided by private benefactors or by the Society. The Society's contribution is applied exclusively to the purchase of local objects, such as the specimens from the Nunn collection referred to above. The second Appendix contains a rough list of these purchases during the past year.

The increasing value of the collections and the greater practical recognition of their importance by teachers and students alike only emphasize the inconvenience and even mischief caused by the inadequacy of the buildings in which they are at present housed. The movement for the erection of a New Museum has therefore naturally gained much strength within the last twelve months. A copy of an appeal which has already been circulated by the Curator and others interested among their private friends, with a list of subscriptions received, is circulated with this Report, and will be soon issued publicly, when it is hoped that the response will be such as to enable the Committee to take steps towards the erection of at least a portion of the proposed Museum, so that it may be possible to relieve to some extent the overcrowding in the present buildings.

In October, 1905, Mr George Brimley Bowes resigned the office of Excursion Secretary, which he had held with so much advantage to the Society since 1902. The Council decided not to fill the office thus vacated at present, but asked the Secretary and Assistant Secretary to undertake the duties temporarily. In consequence of this change and of other difficulties which have occurred in carrying out visits that had been arranged, the usual number of College inspections and excursions has been curtailed. On the 4th of November, 1905, a party of members were conducted over the portion of King's Hall which has been opened out by Trinity College and will in future be used for the College offices and muniment room. Mr Fletcher, Fellow of the College, kindly acted as guide, and pointed out the ancient portions of the building and its internal arrangements. Its present possessors have retained as much of the old work as possible, and have made this

surviving portion of the original foundation a characteristic and highly interesting feature of the College as seen from the old bowling green. The party then made their way to St John's College, which was inspected with the genial assistance of the Bursar, Mr Scott, and where the visitors were hospitably entertained by the College. All arrangements were made by Mr Peace for a visit to Emmanuel College in the Easter Term, but, owing to the unexpected visit to the University of the members of the special mission from the Emperor of China, this had to be put off at the last moment.

On the 12th of July, 1906, a party of members visited some of the places in London with which alumni of this University have been connected. Some notes on this visit are in the third Appendix.

The Society has been represented at many of the meetings for the study of different branches of archæology held elsewhere. At the Congress on the prehistoric branch of the subject held at Monaco in April, several of the honorary members took a very important part, Sir John Evans, Mons. Héron de Villefosse, Prof. Pigorini, and Mons. Salomon Reinach being amongst those who presided at the meetings. It is hoped that some of the discoveries laid before the Congress will also be brought before this Society when their authors visit England shortly.

A gracious welcome was accorded during the whole of the meeting by both the Prince and the officials, which added greatly to the enjoyment of your representatives, the Secretary and Mr Mullinger.

Other members of the Society attended the French Archæological Congress held this year at Carcassonne and Perpignan, or joined the pilgrimage along the Roman Wall in Northumberland, which was organized by the Newcastle Society of Antiquaries and the Cumberland and Westmoreland Archæological Society in June.

The Photographic Record of the County has made favourable progress under the superintendence of Dr Allen, whose report will be found in the fourth Appendix.

Satisfactory progress has also been made with the collection of portraits of distinguished persons connected with the University, Borough, and County, which has attracted the interest of many friends, including old members of the University in all parts of the world. The living representatives of many deceased persons whose portraits were desired have not grudged pecuniary outlay and personal trouble in order to meet the request of the Committee, and to them a special meed of thanks is due. It is hoped to issue a list of the portraits received and of their donors. The Committee in charge of the work would gratefully receive any old portraits, whether photographs, engravings, or in other forms, which members might feel inclined to give, and would point out in this connection the value to them of collections in old photographic albums, which otherwise might be thrown away as rubbish.

Owing to the pressure of other parts of the work of the Society no steps have yet been taken towards the realization of the scheme for marking the dwellings of persons whose subsequent career has justified such a memorial, but it is intended to proceed with this as opportunity occurs.

During the past Session the following publications have been issued :

By the Rev. H. P. Stokes, LL.D., *The Chaplains and the Chapel of the University of Cambridge.*

By the Rev. W. W. Skeat, Litt.D., F. Brit. Acad., Professor of Anglo-Saxon, *The Place-names of Bedfordshire.*

The second part of the xith volume of *Proceedings* (the vth of the New Series), containing the Transactions and Communications from the 30th of May, 1904, to the 22nd of May, 1905, and being number XLVI of such parts issued by the Society.

These have been favourably received by the Archæological press, and the hearty thanks of the Society are due to the authors for putting at its disposal the valuable results of their learning and research. Only those who have undergone the labour can understand the amount of time and trouble involved in the preparation and issue of the volumes containing the *Proceedings* of the Society, and the members owe a deep debt

of gratitude not only to the present editors, Mr J. W. Clark, the Registrary, and Dr Venn, but to their predecessors in the work.

Arrangements have been made with the Syndics of the University Press to continue the publication of the Luard Memorial Series, thereby relieving the Society of a serious drain on its resources. The work has been placed in the hands of editors most competent to carry it on, and is proceeding satisfactorily.

The publication of various works now in preparation has been undertaken by the Society. The expense of these and of the issue of the Proceedings will fully absorb the funds which can be applied to this purpose.

### ADDITIONAL EXCHANGES 1905—6.

Arrangements have been entered into for the exchange of publications with the following institutions:

#### CONTINENTAL.

- Belgium.* L'Académie Royale d'Archéologie de Belgique,  
Antwerp.  
La Société Royale de Numismatique de Belgique,  
Brussels.
- Hungary.* National-Museum, Buda-Pesth.
- Italy.* The British School at Rome.

#### AMERICAN.

- Argentine Republic.* Museo de La Plata.
- United States.* The American Folk-Lore Society, Cambridge,  
Mass.  
The University of Pennsylvania, Department  
of Archæology, Philadelphia.  
The Phillips Academy, Andover, Mass.

The Society now receives 87 publications by this means, but it is still true, as has been noted on previous occasions,

that many parts of the world are unrepresented in the list, and in consequence we are unable to offer to our members any opportunity of obtaining information as to the progress of studies in many countries in the subjects dealt with by the Society.

Nothing is received from our own great colonies of Australia and New Zealand, nor from such important continental countries as Austria and Russia; and the institutions in Italy with which the Society exchanges are exotics, and not concerned with the general archæology of the country. Members will confer a favour by furnishing to the Secretary the names and addresses of any Societies with whom they think negotiations for an exchange might be opened.

The balance sheet shewing the financial position of the Society to 31 December 1905 is published with this report.

The Rev. W. G. Searle has agreed to fill the President's chair for another Session, and Miss Bateson and Dr Allen have been elected to the vacant seats in the Council.

#### APPENDIX No. I:

List of papers read before the Society during the Session October 20, 1905, to May 28, 1906.

- Allen, F. J., M.D.: *On the Shambles at Shepton Mallet and the Photographic Record of Cambridgeshire.* Nov. 6, 1905.
- Ball, Sir Robert Stawell, Lowndean Professor of Astronomy: *Exhibition of photographs of Irish Coast Scenery and antiquities taken during the cruise of the Commissioners of Irish Lights.* Nov. 16, 1905.
- Bilson, John, F.S.A.: *The French Archæological Congress at Beauvais and Compiègne, 1905.* Dec. 4, 1905.
- Bowes, Miss Julia M.: *On a bread tally in use at Coméry, France.* Nov. 13, 1905.
- Catling, H. D.: *Exhibition of objects from the Wrestlers and Coach and Horses Inns, Petty Cury, Cambridge.* Mar. 12, 1906.

- Clark, J. W., University Registry: *The attack of the Stage Keepers of Trinity College on Members of St John's College in 1611.* Mar. 1, 1906.
- *The Library building at La Chaise Dieu, Auvergne, France.* May 7, 1906.
- *The Library of St Mark at Venice.* May 28, 1906.
- Cowles, S.: *Exhibition of Children's Books and Valentines of former days.* Nov. 13, 1905.
- Cunnington, W. A.: *Anthropological Notes from Lake Tanganyika.* Jan. 29, 1906.
- Davenport, Cyril: *Bookbinding in England.* Feb. 5, 1906.
- Duckworth, W. L. H., M.D.: *On the proctors' halberds and dagger, and Exhibition of Chinese medals.* Feb. 19, 1906.
- Edmonds, Rev. A. J.: *Historical notes on Great Gransden, Hunts.* Mar. 5, 1906.
- Fletcher, W. M.: *On a pack of 16th century playing cards found in Trinity College.* Feb. 19, 1906.
- Fordham, H. G.: *Exhibition of Maps of the Fens and of France and Italy.* Nov. 6, 1905.
- Fryer, J. C. F. and G. L. Keynes: *Recent Excavations at Somersham, Hunts.* Oct. 23, 1905.
- Gadow, Hans, F.R.S.: *On Aztec Civilization and its origin.* Feb. 1, 1906.
- Gray, A. B.: *Biographical notes on John Bowtell, sen.* Jan. 29, 1906.
- *Biographical notes on John Bowtell, jun., sometime keeper of the University Library.* Feb. 19, 1906.
- Griffiths, Joseph, M.D.: *Primitive Surgery.* Feb. 12, 1906.
- Guillemard, F. H. H., M.D.: *The Balearic Islands and their antiquities.* Feb. 26, 1906.
- *Exhibition of and notes on a Set of English Roundels.* May 21, 1906.
- Haddon, A. C., F.R.S.: *The dances of the Natives of the Torres Straits.* Oct. 30, 1905.
- *Notes on South African Natives as seen by the British Association.* Feb. 15, 1906.
- Hope, William Henry St John, F.S.A.: *The Norman origin of Cambridge Castle.* Nov. 27, 1905.

- von Hügel, Baron A., Curator: *On recent additions to the Museum.* Nov. 13, 1905; May 21, 1906.
- Hughes, Prof. T. McKenny, F.R.S.: *On recent excavations at Shepreth and Melbourn, Cambs.* Feb. 12, 1906.
- James, M. R., Litt.D., F.Brit.Acad., Provost of King's College: *The Tapestries at Aix, Provence, and at La Chaise Dieu, Auvergne, France.* May 7, 1906.
- Jones, E. Lloyd, M.D.: *Exhibition of Chinese bronze celts.* Mar. 12, 1906.
- Layard, Miss: *Palæolithic implements found in Ipswich.* April 30, 1906.
- Macalister, Robert Alexander Stewart, of the Palestine Exploration Fund: *The recent excavations at Gezer in Palestine.* Nov. 20, 1905.
- Magnússon, Eiríkr: *On the Scandinavian word "Dyngja" in the sense of the women's bower.* Mar. 5, 1906.
- Petrie, Professor W. M. Flinders: *On recent explorations in Sinai.* Oct. 20, 1905.
- Phillips, F. W.: *Mediæval Floor Tiles, their origin and development.* May 14, 1906.
- Raynes, W. L.: *Exhibition of an octagonal watch of about 1611.* Mar. 12, 1906.
- Redfern, W. B.: *Exhibition of Scales and of antique tinder boxes, etc.* Nov. 13, 1905.
- *Exhibition of an antique spring gun, of a Japanese gun, and of gingerbread moulds.* Mar. 12, 1906.
- Rhodes, W. A.: *On Dentistry, ancient and barbaric.* Mar. 12, 1906.
- Ridgeway, Prof. W., F.Brit.Acad.: *On the origin of basilicas.* Nov. 6, 1905.
- Whitehead, J. E. L., Town Clerk: *Exhibition of an old Cambridge standard quart measure.* Nov. 13, 1905.

## APPENDIX No. II.

LIST OF LOCAL OBJECTS PURCHASED FOR THE  
MUSEUM WITH THE GRANTS MADE BY THE  
SOCIETY TO DECEMBER 31, 1905.

## PREHISTORIC.

*Stone.*

13 River-drift implements from Elveden and Lakenheath, Suffolk.

3 Celts from Cranwich, Norfolk, Lakenheath, Suffolk, and Fordham, Cambs.

14 Adzes from Lakenheath and Santon Downham, Suffolk.

3 Picks from Cranwich, Norfolk and Wangford and Eriswell, Suffolk.

16 Fabricators from Eriswell.

10 Knives from Cranwich, Croxton, Grimes' Graves, Lynford, Mundford and Thetford, Norfolk; Brandon, Elveden, and Eriswell, Suffolk; and Burnt Fen, Cambs.

7 Scrapers from Mundford and Weeting, Norfolk; Barnham, Elveden, Kenny Hill, Mildenhall, and Santon Downham, Suffolk Burnt Fen, Cambs.

5 Borers from Kilverstone, Norfolk and Eriswell and Lakenheath, Suffolk.

1 Hammerstone from Undley, Suffolk.

A large collection of arrowheads from Cranwich, Kilverstone, Mundford, Thetford, Weeting and West Wretham, Norfolk; Barnham, Brandon, Elveden, Eriswell, Lakenheath, Mildenhall, and Undley, Suffolk; Royston, Herts.; Burnt Fen and Isleham, Cambs.

A large wedge-shaped flint nodule from Santon, Norfolk, possibly used to soften hides by drawing them over it.

The upper stone of a quern from Lakenheath, Suffolk.

126 roughly shaped implements of unknown use from Norfolk, Suffolk, and Cambs.

A number of trimmed flakes from Royston, Herts.

*Bronze.*

A palstave from West Wretham, Norfolk.

A bronze mould for a one-looped socket celt found in Cambridge.

A chisel from Royston Heath.

A thin hook from Wangford, Suffolk.

*Earthenware.*

2 cinerary urns from Royston, Herts., and Clipsel Fields, Soham, Cambs.

A small vessel from Royston Heath, Herts.

## LATE CELTIC.

A tall wide-mouthed cinerary urn from Royston, Herts.

## ROMAN.

Three bracelets from Bassingbourn, Cambs.

A finger-ring and 4 pins from Royston, Herts.

A pin with orange-shaped and beaded head from Lakenheath, Suffolk.

4 small iron keys from Royston, Herts.

A cinerary urn and a small urn-shaped vessel from the War ditches, Cherry-hinton, Cambs.

The upper half of a short-necked globular vessel of clay inscribed "COBROVA" from Guilden Morden, Cambs.

A pear-shaped jug and wide-mouthed cup of clay from Royston, Herts.

#### MEDIÆVAL.

##### *Gold.*

A flat annular brooch set with two purple stones and inscribed, from Whaddon, Cambs.

##### *Bronze.*

Two annular brooches and a finger-ring from Royston, Herts.

4 buckles and a large key from Lakenheath, Suffolk.

An inscribed purse handle-bar found in St Andrew's Street, Cambridge.

A bronze mortar from Kingston, Cambs.

##### *Iron.*

A small key from Royston, Herts.

##### *Earthenware.*

Three jugs, five urn-shaped vessels, a two-handed cup, a large costrel and a candlestick from Market Hill, Cambridge.

Two tall jugs from Chesterton, Cambs.

21 small leaden toys found in Castle Street, Cambridge.

Half of an exchequer tally bought in Cambridge.

Two spindle whorls of clay from Undley, Suffolk.

### APPENDIX No. III.

Notes on the Visit to London paid by Members of the Society on the 12th of July, 1906.

The church of St Bartholomew the Great in Smithfield, the burial place of Sir Walter Mildmay, founder of Emmanuel College, first claimed attention. In the regrettable absence of the Rector, the Rev. Sir Borradaile Savory, Bart., caused by illness which has since resulted in his death, the story of the church was told by Mr Webb, one of the churchwardens, who pointed out the architectural beauty and dignity

of this, the only surviving City church of the Norman period which escaped destruction at the Great Fire, and which still retains its apsidal plan. Founded with the adjacent hospital in 1123 by Rahere, called the King's Jester, though actually one of the Ministers of the Crown, the Priory of St Bartholomew speedily assumed an important position. Rahere was buried in this, the church attached to the Priory. The tomb which bears his name and stands in the choir is of much later date. After the suppression of the monasteries the nave disappeared, and gradual encroachments were made on all sides, so that fifty years ago a blacksmith's forge stood in the north transept, while the Lady Chapel and the portion of the choir at the back of the altar were occupied by a silk factory, the successor of a printing office in which Benjamin Franklin worked as an apprentice. The remains of the cloisters on the south side of the church were also occupied as stables. By the pious liberality of recent rectors and with the help of other subscriptions, great improvements have been effected, the encroachments swept away, and the church has once more put on an aspect befitting its history. There are many memorials besides that of the founder, and among them that of Sir Walter Mildmay in the Elizabethan style is prominent.

From this church the party went to lunch at Crosby Hall in Bishopsgate Street, the old City palace now occupied as a restaurant. Some remnants of the old building are still left, especially the roof of the banqueting-hall, but under present conditions it is a little difficult to realize that it was once occupied by the Protector Somerset, by Ben Jonson's Lady Pembroke, and other persons holding important positions.

At the church of St Olave, Hart Street, the party were guided by the Rector, the Rev. A. B. Boyd-Carpenter, who pointed out the peculiar lightness and beauty of this fifteenth-century church. He also drew attention to the memorial erected by Samuel Pepys to his wife, and to that recently put up to his own memory. The church was saved from destruction at the Great Fire by Pepys, as he summoned a body of seamen from the dockyard at Deptford, to blow up the houses in the path of the flames.

The cup presented to the Company of the Clothworkers by Pepys when Master in 1673 and other pieces of interesting plate were then inspected at Clothworkers' Hall by the kind permission of the Company, and the tower of the church of All-Hallows Staining in the garden was visited. This is the only relic of the church, and the parish has been united to that of St Olave.

At Southwark Cathedral the Rev. Canon Beck, a member of the Society, kindly acted as cicerone, and the Bishop of Woolwich and Rev. Canon Thompson the Chancellor and historian of the Cathedral had made all necessary arrangements to permit full inspection. In the palace of the see of Winchester adjoining the church lived Richard Fox, at one time Master of Pembroke College and Chancellor of the University. He erected the altar screen in this church and also that at Winchester Cathedral. Among his successors was Stephen Gardiner, Master of Trinity Hall and Chancellor of the University, who held his Courts for matters ecclesiastical in the Lady Chapel and there, with his fellow commissioners, condemned to the flames Lawrence Saunders, Rector of All Hallows in the City, Robert Ferrar, Bishop of St David's, Rowland Taylor, Rector of Hadleigh, and Drs Bradford and Rogers, all Cambridge men. Lancelot Andrewes, also Master of Pembroke Hall, died in the neighbouring palace while holding the Winchester bishopric; his effigy lies in the retro-choir. The entries were inspected in the registers relating to John Harvard of Emmanuel College, after whom Harvard University is named, to John Fletcher of Corpus Christi College, the dramatist and coadjutor of Francis Beaumont, and to Francis Quarles of Christ's College, all of whom lived in, or were connected with, the parish.

Canon Beck then guided the party to Rotherhithe, where he shewed them the slight existing remains of the palace of Henry IV, and entertained them at the Rectory. The fine communion plate belonging to the parish was exhibited to the visitors.

## APPENDIX No. IV.

## PHOTOGRAPHIC RECORD OF CAMBRIDGESHIRE.

SECRETARY'S REPORT, *October 8, 1906.*

The prints now in hand are as follows:—

*Presented by:—*

Mr J. E. Foster .....	1
Mr Hayles .....	17
Mr R. F. Scott .....	3
Messrs Scott & Wilkinson .....	3
Dr F. J. Allen .....	22

*Printed from Negatives from:—*

Mrs Severs's collection .....	1
Mr Simpson's collection .....	4
Mr S. F. B. Lane's collection .....	1

*Bought from:—*

Messrs Scott & Wilkinson .....	17
Rev. L. Fisher .....	1

*Temporary prints .....* 6Total 76

Prints have been promised by Messrs Farren, Stoakley, and Tyndall.

The Secretary has photographed a number of buildings for the Record during the last Summer, and hopes to contribute views of these when he can find opportunity to print them.

The majority of the prints in hand have been mounted by the Secretary, and he hopes to mount the remainder in course of time.

The expenses have been comparatively small. A few prints have been bought, also a stock of mounts which will last for a

considerable time. The remaining expenditure is for postage. The Secretary's disbursements are entered in a book kept for the purpose.

An Exhibition of the Collection was given at the meeting of the Cambridge Antiquarian Society on November 6th, 1905.

The Committee has added to its number the following gentlemen:—

- Mr H. A. CHAPMAN.
- „ W. FARREN.
- „ W. H. HAYLES.
- „ T. J. SOWDON.
- „ F. J. STOAKLEY.
- „ G. H. TYNDALL (Ely).

F. J. ALLEN,  
*Secretary to Committee.*

October 8, 1906

### NEW MEMBERS ELECTED 1905-6.

1905. Oct. 23. Miss Eleanor Margaret Allen.  
Miss Agnes Ethel Conway.  
William Reginald Grove, M.D.  
Sir Charles Edward Hamilton, Bart.  
Herbert Francis Jones, Esq.  
Rev. Charles Joseph.  
Edwin Samuel Montagu, Esq., M.P.  
Rev. Edward Lynch Pearson, M.A.  
Charles Day Rose, M.P.
30. Francis George Binnie, Esq.  
William Chawner, M.A., *Master of Emmanuel College.*  
John Chivers, Esq.  
Rt. Hon. Viscount Clifden.  
Miss Jane Ellen Harrison (Hon. Litt.D. Aberdeen,  
D.Litt. Durham).  
Miss Emily Elizabeth Constance Jones, *Principal of  
Girton College.*  
Rev. William Montgomery (B.D. Lond.).  
Alexander Gordon Wynch Murray, Esq.

- Mrs Emma Louisa Rowney.  
 Mrs Alice Westlake.
- Nov. 13. James George Frazer, Esq., M.A., *F. Brit. Acad.*  
 Samuel Francis Becke Lane, Esq., B.A.
- Dec. 4. Gerald Poynton Mander, Esq.  
 William Mitchell, Esq., B.A.  
 Rev. Annesley William Streane, D.D.
1906. Jan. 22. Charles Roger Dewhurst, Esq.  
 Rev. James Pounder Whitney, M.A.
- Feb. 19. Geoffrey Langdon Keynes, Esq.  
 22. Mrs Louisa Ellen Deighton.
- March 1. Miss Frances Evelyn Cave-Browne-Cave.  
 12. Walter Gardiner, Esq., Sc.D., F.R.S.  
 Miss Anne Julia Pertz.  
 Frank Reyner Salter, Esq.
- April 30. Miss Kate Anna Long.  
 Rev. Francis Hawtrey Morgan May, M.A.
- May 21. Gilbert Shuldham Shaw, Esq.  
 George Edward Wherry, Esq., M.B., M.C.
- June 4. Frederic Frost Blackman, Esq., M.A.  
 Albert Charles Seward, Esq., M.A., F.R.S.

SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDING 31 DECEMBER 1905.

<i>Receipts.</i>		<i>Payments.</i>	
	£ s. d.		£ s. d.
To Balance from 1904	55 9 11	By 8vo. Publications, No. XXXV.	126 11 6
Annual Subscriptions:		Balance for printing	19 0
Current (190)	199 10 0	Index slips	127 10 6
Arrears	16 16 0	Proceedings, No. XLV., Printing	83 12 6
For 1906	16 16 0	Luard Memorial Series:	
Life Members (4)	233 2 0	Grace Book B., Part II., Printing	128 1 3
Interest on £700 G. E. R. 4 per cent.	42 0 0	Less grant from Press Syndicate	50 0 0
Debenture Stock, January	13 6 0	Miss Bateson for editing Parts I. and II.	78 1 3
" " July	13 6 0	Printing list of members	75 0 0
Interest on deposit	26 12 0	Miscellaneous Printing	14 7 6
Sale of Publications:		Expenses of Lectures and papers:	42 12 3
Deighton Bell & Co.	4 12 10	Use of lantern	4 13 8
Macmillan & Boves	6 11 0	Mr Fordham, Maps	2 10 6
Luard Memorial Publications:		Attendant at Pathological Lec- ture Room	10 0
University Press Warehouse	40 18 7	Hire of chairs	12 6
Macmillan & Boves	24 6 0	Per Secretary, including slides from Paris (£4. 16s. 3d.)	6 15 0
Miss Bateson, Contribution to Luard Memorial Fund	65 4 7	Grant to Museum for Local Purchases	15 1 8
Caius' Annals (8vo. Publications, No. XL.) Share of cost from Caius College	15 0 0	Excavations (Rev. F. G. Walker IIIs., Thoday 15s.)	25 0 0
	78 11 6	Ely Diocesan Remembrancer Index to Extracts from Episcopal Registers	1 6 0
		Photographic Survey of County. Expenses	9 0 6
		Books, Stationery and Typist	4 0 3
		Illuminating shields on address to Belgian Archaeological Society	12 14 1
		Stamps and petty expenses	1 10 0
		Clerical Assistance	10 6 2
		Attendants at Museum	4 5 0
		Miscellaneous payments	3 10 0
		Subscription to Association of Archaeological Societies	5 2 5
		Balance in hand	1 0 0
	<u>£532 4 3</u>		18 4 2
			<u>£532 4 3</u>

Audited, and found to agree with the Bank Book and Vouchers, showing a Credit balance of £18. 4s. 2d.

GEORGE KETT }  
Auditors.  
J. B. PEACE }

# CONTENTS

## OF PROCEEDINGS, No. XLVIII.

### VOL. XII. (NEW SERIES, VOL. VI.) No. 1.

	PAGE
Sixty-sixth Annual Report (for 1905—6) . . . . .	1
Appeal for New Museum of Archaeology and Ethnology . . . . .	20
Herculaneum. (With one Figure in the text and Plate I.) By Professor HUGHES . . . . .	25
Historical Notes on Fowlmere. By Rev. ALEXANDER CAMPBELL YORKE . . . . .	94
The Decay of Artistic Handicrafts. By S. PERKINS PICK, F.R.I.B.A. . . . .	95
(1) Neolithic Dewponds. (2) Neolithic Man in the Hills and Plains. By Messrs A. J. and G. HUBBARD . . . . .	95
Vetus Liber Archidiaconatus Eliensis. By Rev. C. H. EVELYN WHITE . . . . .	95
Some Notes on the Gold Armilla found in Grunty Fen, together with Mr Isaac Deck's original account of its discovery in 1844. (With one Figure in the text and Plates II, III.) By Baron A. VON HÜGEL . . . . .	96
The Dancing Towers of Italy and India. By Mrs WHERRY . . . . .	105
The Plains of Mesopotamia, the Forests of Pontus, and the Highlands of Kurdistan. By Capt. MARK SYKES . . . . .	105
Sixty-seventh Annual General Meeting . . . . .	106
The Arretine Vase in the Cambridge Archaeological Museum. (With Plates IV, V.) By H. B. WALTERS, Esq. . . . .	107
The Morning Star Ceremony of the Pawnee. By A. C. HADDON, Sc.D., F.R.S. . . . .	113
The Round Moat at Fowlmere. (With one Figure in the text.) By Rev. A. C. YORKE . . . . .	114